CHAPTER 8

THE BREAKING OF POPULIST UNITY : THE NEW ENTREPRENEUR AND
SHACK SOCIETY AFTER THE "BATTLE OF CATO MANOR'

Shack Society After the Pogrom of Janwary 1949

By the early 1950s, the Mkhumbane shack dwellers became increasingly aware that as a result of the widespread
African political activity of the later 1940s and, particularly, the January 1949 Riots, their own power had
become highlighted and thus subject to inereased criticism from White and Indian city residents, emplayers, the
municipality and the government. Furthermore, as a direct result of their own actions during this persod, day-
to-day life in the shanrviowns had become seemingly caught in a vortex of change. At the very least, daily
shantytown life during the early 1950s was subject 10 processes which threatened the close communal bonds
which existed within shantytown soctety during the later 1940s.

Alter the January 1949 Riots Africans living in other parts of the ity flocked into Mkhumbane which
throughout 1949 continued to absorb more and more p-:npl:.l Mr Gumede, who was born in the Piet Retief
district, came with his parents to Durban “at the time of the Indian African war® and settled in \khumbane. =
Ms Moeli, originally from the Johannesburg region had settled with his family in the Candella area of Durban
in the 19405, When the January 1949 Riots broke ouwt, Mocli “ran to Mkhumbane.? Soon after the Riots of
January 1949, municipal inspeciors reported that a further 302 new shacks had been erected in the Mkhumbane
arca.* Municipal inspectors akso reported that Alfricans living in the arca were stockpiling supplies of “second
hand corrugated wron” for use in building new shack accommodation.”

As a result of the flight or death of Indian residents, African shacklords assumed greater control in
the area, either leasing out vacant land to “immigrants”, taking over [adian-owned shacks or themselves erecting
shacks on vacant land. MrJ J Shabalala, himself a rackrenter, recalls that “after the wars it was casy because
now you could take the land much more eagily. The Indians had gone. So you build the houses and give them
[sic] out to all the people.® Mr Shange, who operated a herbalist business in the city, had originally lived in

L This movement of people into Mkhumbane did not however lead to any boycott or mumscapal
sccommodation as occurred in the Johannesburg region in this same perniod. See Stadler “Hirds
in the Cornfields” in Bozzoli, Townships.
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Mkhumbane but then, in the later 1940z, moved to Somtseu Road Location.  In the early 19305, Shange moved
back into Mikhumbane, setting up his herbalist business and becoming a rackrenter owning a “rwelve roomed
house™! Residents of Mkhumbane recall that with the exit of Indians, the African “landlords® became more
assertive of the shacklands: “the fandlord was king™ The majority of these shacklords already owned
substantial amounts of shack accommodation in the Mkbhumbane area.

In December 1952 municipal inspectors estimated that 75% of Alrican residents in the Mkbhumbane
area owned no housing in the area, OF those who did own shack property in Lhe shantytowns, only 225 both
owned a single shack and lived onthese premises. Approximately ball the sccommodation in the wea was
owned by Africans who, whilst living in the area, owned more than one shack. Juit over 20% of the shacks were
owned by Africans living ¢ither in other areas of the dity or outside Durban. Only 7% of the shacks appeared 1o
be owned by Indians, although municipal officials acknowledged that many appareatly African-owned shacks
could in fact belong to Indians.?

Many of the African shacklords cwned significant numbers of shacks and were totally reliant on the
incomes derived from rackrenting. Residents estimated that shack owners like Esau le Fleur, the ‘mayor’ of
Mkhumbane, and people like A W G Champion, then residing in Chesterville, collected as much as £30 a moath
from shackrenting.!! John Hlope recalls that his father, a racksenter, “did notwork. He was working for
himself"11 1o 1952 municipal officials estimated that it was conceivable that nearly 20% of the pepulation of
the Mkhumbane area “were dependent only on income from rents, "1+

The growing power and wealth of established African shacklords resulted in increasing conlhet
berween shack owners and tenants, The basis for this tension lay in the cost of accommodation and the manner
in which the increasing amount of accommodation owned by existing shack owners made it very difficult for
nther residents to “invest™ in shack p:mpmy.ls

For the majority of the fully or casually employed residents of the Mkhumbane arca, shack ownership
was 4 prized commodity having a dual function. The ownership of a few shacks allowed people to profit from

renting sccommodation and thus avoid the immiseration which came with full wage employment. These profits

7. KCAV: imterview with Mr J Shange, 24 June 1979,

Interviews with Mr M Mcanyana, 19 May 1985, Mr T Phewa, 23 June 1985 and Mr 1 I Shabalala,
20 MNovember 1986 It is interesting that many informants refer 1o Afrcan rackrenters as
“landlords”, therzby alluding 10 the sceming authority of shacklords woder conditions where the
legal powers of both Indian landowners and the municipality appeared to have lapsed.

9. Shum Papers: C N Shum “Survey of Shack Families:Incomes and Other Considerations®, 2
February 1953,
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11, Interview with Mr J Hlope, 29 July 1985,
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could act as both 3 reserve source of money and, through the capitalisation of profits, allow such persons 1o
avoid the rigours of full wage employment, However, for many residents having few material resources, the
main desire was to own shack accommodation. Such ownership was a central e amongst the urban
proletarial constantly strugaling for both permanent legal urban residence and the nght 1o ovn both land and
housing in the city, In the same way as the already permaneatly urbanived Indian working clasd was eager 1o
own land in Durban, 40, 100 for the African shack dwellers, ownership of a shack dwelling allowed residenis (o
both sustain permanent urban residence and invest their savings.  This invesiment could cither be handed on o
heirs, thereby allowing dependents a future city life, or oemers could profit from the sale of such buildings

Dwring the later 19405, many families had grouped together and paid for the construction of one
shack., When linances permitted the shack would be taken over by one family while the other family moved into
a shack financed by all involved in the initial venture. With the high costs of shack building when compared 10
the wages carned by African workers, many residents would use mopey gained through stockvels 1o acquire
property. 14

The desire to own shack property was continually balanced against the availability of sites, the cost of
building materials and the estimated futere security of any particular shack area.!d Despite the increasing
prices of shuck material, with the Tiberation’ of Mkhumbane doring the 1949 Riots, many residents attempted
o acguire their own shacks. By and large, such attempts were (o be blocked by the already wealthy African
shacklords, Residents recall with bitterness the way in which “Champion came in and told us that we must build
vur own places and forget about the Indians. That was when Champion, who already had lots of houses, ., he
puts lots of houses up himsell."' Other recollections expeess a more generalized set of resentments. Charles
Khumalo recalls the period immediately after the 1949 Riots: “if you were wanting a place of your awn, then vou
must go somewhere else. Mot in Mkhumbane, There you had (o rent from the I:I‘Ii]:i'l:'ﬂ'."r'r

Throughout the later 19405, the land and housing rents charged by Indian shacklords had been
slightly lower than those shack rents charged by African shacklords.® Funhermaore, during the carly 1930s, as
the power of Indians waned against the authority of African shacklords and then.laier, the municipality, Indian
shackowners were often prepared to accept even bess rent for sccommodation,'”  Against this trend, during the
carly 19505, African shacklords, taking advantage of the shortage of officially sanctioned African urban housing

and the popularity of Mkhumbane, increased the rentals which they charged for accommodation in these

14 Interviews with Messrs C Khumalo and T Phewa, 21 April 1385,
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19. See Interdews with Mr B Mngadi, 29 Cctober 1988, Mr J Mngund, 20 July 1985 and personal

communication, MG N Shum.



shacklands, While small rooms could be rented for as litthe as 3 shillings a month, other larger rooms in more
favoured locales could cost as much as £1.5s, £2 or more a month ™ [n 1952 the municipality estimated that the
average moanthly rental for shack accommodation in the Mkhumbane arca was £1.3s. In 1952 the sub-economic
rentals charged for a threc-roomed house in Lamontville varied between 12 shillings and 6 pencs and 17
shillings and 6 pence. Remtals in Chesterville were alightly ]:|jgj'|:|r..-r.11 John Hlope, whose father was a
rackrenter in the Cabazini arca, explains the position:

My father had ten rooms at Cabazini. This area is near to the road, good buses, good water,
- MNow if you want a bouse there you must pay. My father built these houses. If you want
to live in the location then it s okay, othersse vou must pay,

Whilst there is evidenee of some African shacklords charging increased rentals, the tension between
shack owners and tenants was probably dee largely to the increasing arrogance of shacklords rather than to any
widegpread rental increases,

Alongside the growing power of the established African shacklords came the increasing influencs of
African traders. [n the moaths immediately after the Riots, many of the existing small-seale shackshop owners,
members of running co-operative concerns, and other investors began to extend their trading operations in the
Mikhumbane arca. As M B Yengwa recalls, after the January 1949 Riots there was a “vacuum” ereated through
the withdrawal of lodian, municipal and police presence. = Il was thus “very easy for us Alricans o start
making money."*? With such persons being accurately viewed a3 “hardheaded” and "ambitious”, it was thus a
relatively simple matier for African traders to expand their existing shackshops or move into those Indian shops
aot burnt during the Riots. =

There was however conflict among those persons Iryng [0 establish “proper businesses.™0  Two
groupings emerged as relative colm developed after the Riots. The first of these groupings, a seemingly
informal alliance between certain African traders from other parts of the aty and aspirant traders lnang in
Mkhumbane, was called Zondizitha Buving Club. As the name implied, the group was Bercely anti-Indian and
pro-apartheid in so far as it claimed the right of Africans to trade in those areas of the Gty set aside tor Affrican
residence. By the end of 1952, the Zondizitha Buying Club had been “forced” to disband and members joined
the Zulu Hlanganani Association.’

Shum Papers; C N Shum “Sunvey of Shack Familics: Incomes and Other Constderations”, 2
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Upholding the very same polices as had the Zondizitha Buying Club, the Zulu Hlanganani, which had
been formed immediately after the January 1949 Riots, was eventually to become popular and powerful in
MEihumbane, The main purpose of this grouping was o ensure that only Africans resident in the Mkhumbane
arca and belonging (o the Zulu Hlanganan: would be allowed 1o trade in the shantviowns, By 1952 it seems that
maost of the other co-operative ventures and unaligned shackshops had either dosed down or had become part
of the Zulu Hlanganani. The collapse of many of the co-operatives was almost certainly dueto these co-
operatives own organizational weaknesses, but the power of the Zulu Hlanganani certainly contributed both to
the decline of co-operatives and the, albeit brief, monopolization of trading in the area by the Zulu Hlanganani.
The leaders of this group were all cstablished traders or wealthy residents liviog in the Mkbumbane area ™ Of
these people, the majority had been involved in the various co-operative societics which had developed in the
Mkhumbane area during the later 19405,

Whilst also calling itself the Zulu Hlangananm Buying and Co-operative Club, the grouping was in
some important ways dilferent from the earlier co-operatives. Stressing the nzed to ensure that as much money
as possible circulated amongst Alfrican shantytown residents, their racism was, in common with the carler co-
operatives, firmly rooted in o desire to claim an exclusivity of trade over Indian entreprencurs. However, the
Zulu Hilanganam also assumed to prohibat Afrncans oot resident in the shanrtowns from trading i the
Michumbase areaand so to monopolze trading i the shanrtown,  Furthermore, whilst many of the co-
operatives of the later 19405 had been an organizational basis for those Africans desiring to fundamentally
resteuetire the nature of cvil power in the ary, the Zuls Hlanganani members focudsed themselves solely on
gaming influence within Mkhumbane, Furthermore, the grouping was never to sustain asingle political
perspective.

The Zulu Hlanganani had three main areas of aperation,  Ferstly, their buving club allowed members
to unite and purchase goods in bulk. Most of the members were traders. Secondly, the grouping also operated
a sat of roadside stalls located near the junction of Booth and Denis Skepstone roads. Most of these stalls were
riin by women selling only small quantities of fruit and vegetables. Thirdly, through the Zulu Hlanganani,
various wealthy residents of the shantytowns iovested in “shares” for the purchase of buses, the purchase of land
and other costly and large scale financial ventures. The profits from these ventures, few of which succeeded or
remained viable for long, would go to those who made financial investments, The Zulu Hlanganani was a
eombination of 3 wholesale agent, a licensing authority, and what Henry Sibisi calls the “Mkhumbane Chamber
of Commeres™ an association of self-employed business people.

Conflict berween the African entreprencurs continued. With "money . just spinning like this”, this
conflict was not merely the simple outcome of various traders trying to expand their businesses. >0 The seizure

25 Ihid, and interviews with Mrs A Afrika, 30 Movember 1986, Mr R Arensicin, 22 August 1988 and Mr
1 J Shabalala, 29 November 1986,
8, Interview with Mr C D 5 Mbutho, 19 April 1985,

30. Interview with Mr J Mnguni, 20 July 1986,



of Indian stores and the proliferation of African-owned trading ventures throughout the shantytown area, with
some areas having over two hundred shops by the carly 19305, produced both absolute competition and an
mereasingly evident differentiation between vanous traders. 1 All traders, as Bryant Mpgadi recalls, started off
having “to rob Peter to pay Paul™; but then, with the Indians “getting ouf, there were many places where the
clever Africans started making real mmuy.'jz Bryvant Maogadh includad,

Expanding their operations and gaining increasing profits, African traders were aware of the need o
justify their actions and to be assisting other residents of the ares. Many of the names of the shops, co-
operatives and investment groupings evoked the images of the proletarian populism so popular during the later
1940s: Zakheni MaAfrika bus company, Phaphemeni MaAfrika Lid, Thandanani MaAfrika®®  Wealthy
residents would announce that their schemes were intended to “help the Africans of Mkhumbane develop so
that we could all live well™> In August 1949, Mr Rasube, then a trader in Mkhumbane, called 3 meeting to
which all those who wished 10 invest money in starting a bus company were invited. But not only wealthy could
come. Mr Rasube desired to take up the common gricvance against shimeyane prosecutions and thus all in the
Kwa Banki area were invited. 3

By the early 1950s, the trading class bad become so entrenched and wealthy in the shantytown arca
that some began to criticize the established traders for forgetting the interests of the ordinary residents. 30 One
commentator remarked thar whilst many were struggling (o secure permanent residence in Mkhumbane, the
leaders of ithe Zuly Hlangzanani were noticeably quiet abous such issues, Probably as a direct result of such
comments, in 1952, the Zulu Hlanganani beld the first of many Mkhumbanre “Xmas Tree® celebrations in the
open ground near the Cabazini shack sprawl. Held oa 14 Januvary, the anniversary of the outbreak of the
January 1949 Riots, leading traders would provide a feast for all residents. Along with the slaughtering of
beasts and the flowing of liquor came various speeches which paid homage to those Africans who bad died in
the January 1949 Riots, bocause “it was through their sacrifice that we are where we are today. 33 Ar the first of
these celebrations, at which "orderlies” of the Shembe Church officated, the ‘mayor’ of Mkhumbane, Esau
Makathini, himself a Zionist, exhorted the 6.500 people present to “remember the bad old ria',-'s'.a"’-" Through
such ceremonies the meaning of the words such as “where we ase today” remained suitably ambiguous,

31, Ihid.
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Even prior to the development of the Emergency Camp, the iafluence of this rackreating and trading
class was given further authority through municipal officials recognizing such persons as local leaders. The
militant leaders of the shack movements and the shackshop dealers of the later 19405 gained increasing
legitimacy from that quarter which had for so long beea hostile to shack residents’ power. In 1951, Colin Shum,
then Supervsor Shack Areas, encouraged the formanion of the ‘Hngnnd:l.}'l:l'."‘u This body comprised a group of
“teaders”, all of whom were traders, shacklords or entreprencurs. As the name implies, the function of this body
was to seck ways in which African residence in the Mkhumbane arca could be sseured, and conflicts berween
Indian landowners, African shacklords and ather African shantytown residents could be reduced 41

Membsers of the Nogandayo expressed the views of the vast majority of African shack dwellers. The
Mogandayo affirmed the right of Africans to live permanently in Mkhumbane. However the basis vpon which
the Nogandayo affirmed this principle was ambiguous. The members of the Nogandayn were acquiring power
by virtue of a municipal authority whose influence in the area was bv na means popularily accepted. Ultimately,
through the Nogandayo, leading entrepreneurs of Mkhumbane sought to stabilize shack society in a way which
allowed such entrepreneurs to gain increased power in the shantytowns. However, it was the increasing power
of such entrepreneurs which had partly caused the instability of Mkhumbane sociely.

It is significant that with the increasing wealth and power of the shacklord and trading class, residents
cecall that "the fertilizer ran out.™*> This term, common amongst residents, in part referred 1o the way in which
moncy, goods and services would constantly be redmiributed amongst residents.  Within the local shack
economy, which residents referred to as “robbing Peter to pay Paul’, it was necessary to ensure that money
brought into the shantytowns by new residents - formal wages and the profits derived from enterprise - be
continually recycled within the Mkhumbane area, Thomas Shabalala recalls the period after the January 15944

Riots:
It was right after the Indo-African war that the lertilizer ran out. There was oothing for us
any longer. This was because of Zuly Hlanganani who had taken it all away, That was when
our leaders went away with Kwa Muhle and left us.

40, For personal reasons, Mr Shum was reluctant to discuss this group other than Lo state that it was

the forerunner of the Cato Manor Wellfare and Development Board, but that by the time this later
body had been formed by the municipality “everyone knew that it was to be a place of [Emporary
aceommodation.” Emphasis added.

41 KCAV: interview with Mr ] Mnguni, 22 July 1980, See also nterview with Mr JJ Shabalala, 29
Movember 1986, The ward Mogondayo appearsto be a derivative amempt at conveying the
demonstrative meanings of two other Zulu words. Firstly, the act of making one’s dwelling
permanent i conveyed through the imagery of bardening the hut floor surface using a bard and
rounded stone or pebble. In other waords, to entrench shack residence through employing the
power of shack society. Secondly, the word evokes the images of straightening something out.
This would clearly refer tothe organization of shack society ina way which would allow the
turbulence inhesent in the relationship between shack dwellers and between the shantytowns and
landowners and municipal power to be redueed.

12, Interview with Mr T Shabalala, 31 June 1985.
4. Ikid.



In the Cato Manor Farm arca the Riors of January 1949 were a pogrom.  [n these Riots, African resideats of
the Mkhumbane area attempted to assert their claim (o permaneat land rights in Durban. Also, with the Riots
residents believed that they had finally achieved their desire to develop a localized trading ceonomy that was
based upon the circulation of money, goods and services dependent on both the money derived from residents
and from those, manly weekend, wisitors who frequented a liberated area, allowing for the development of 2
proletanan culture. For the mapority of shack residents, the wony behind the changes which occurred in the
shacklands after the January 1949 Riots, was that with the, albeit partial, destruction of Indian control over the
area, shock socicty had changed in ways which were diametrically opposcd to the wishes of the majority of
residents.

Further changes in shantytown life were, although substantially different in origin, just as important.
A direct effect of this massive movement of people into Mkhumbane was that health and sanitation conditions
in the area rapidly deteriorated. The serious shortage of toilet facilities became exacerbated: “there were so
many holes already covered up that you had to search for a good place ... and the Mies were all around,” H The
effects were first f2lt by voung children and those new entrants to the aty who were either already malnourished
or elderly dependants and relatrves of those already hving in Mkhumbane: “the older people from the farms
who had not become [t :.r-:l."H In the summer months of 1950-51, a typhoid epidemic swept through the
MEhumbane area with ninety-two Alncan children dving of diarrhea in a particular tweary-four day p:ri&d_"'{"
Health and welfars clinics, opérated by both the muniapality and private welfare organizations, were withdrawn
during the 1949 riots and were not 1o be re-introduced until the development of the Emergency Camp.*7

In 1951, the municipality initinted a survey to gain an estimate of the number of Afnicans [ving i the
shack seitlements, Colin Shum, who controfled the operation, commented that his “job was to do a survey
entirely unrelated to punitive action, (to ignore pass offences and shebeens etc), to get the conflidence of the
people, for the purposes of introducing control.™ Personally Shum was respected amongst residents. and thus
managed o gain the “trust of those people amongst us who did not trust the White man®. However, many
residents rapidly viewed this survey as the first of many municipal attempts to exert municipal authoriry over the
arca ¥?

The attitude of the police was apparently far less discrect. Immediately after the riots the police

stepped wp their patrols into Mkhumbane and their pass raiding throughout the city. In the first seven months

&, Interaew with Mr C Khumalo, 21 April 1385,

43, Interview with Mr M O D Kunene, 19 May 1985 and KCAV, interview with Mr Z A Ngeobo, 13
September 1980,

a6, Nanga lase Nagal, 17 February 1951,

47, Interview with Ms E Law, 2 Apnil 1982,

48, Shum Papers; C N Shum, Persopal Memorandum, 3 September 19600,
40, Interview with Mr 5 Sclby, 19 August 1980,



after the riots a total of 3,166 Africans were deported from Durban?? The aumber of arrests for offences
connected to the brewing and drinking of illegal liquor 1o Mkhumbane alsa increased.”! On the 16 December
1949 the police condvcred what was apparcatly one of their first really big "Dingaan's Day” raids into
Mkhumbane to “remind us who is boss."3% By Movember 1951, police activity in Mkhumbane had so infuriated
residents that there was a near riot after police had attempted to arrest and handeoff 3 man accused of drinking
shimeyane, Those who attempted to rescue the man were slambokked and in the ensuing “sculffle” the accused
was shot three times before the police retreated. On returning to recover the corpse, the police party
sjambokked the grieving widow and, 35 a result, the White policeman in charge of the sortie, well known for his
realousness in conducting liquor raids, acquired the nickname of "Thekwane™ Zulu for the hammerkop bird. 3
Despite African exhilaration at having "liberated” the area from forms of unwanted external authority.
the land remained the legal property of the existing [ndian owners or their heirs. Moreover, afler a judicious

absence, many Indian-owned shops again began operating in the Mkhumbane arca.**

Indian-owned bus
services quickly resumed np-:nlinns.sj The return of Indians to the area not only provided clear evidence that
Alfrican eontrol of Mkhumbane was still tenuous, but also resulted in African traders and shacklords being faced
with competition.

Continuing tension Berween African residents, wanting (o ensure African control, and Indians o
Mkhumbane eventually lad to a renewed outbreak of ricting, looting and arson in Seplember 1953, As with the
January 1949 Riots, the incident which initiated the open conflict was hardly unusual. An African alighting from
an Indian-owned bus in the Mkhumbane area fell and was killed when the rear wheels of the bus ran him over,
Immediately Indian shops, houses, huses, and other property were buent or looted by Africans, some in “well
organized parties” Significantly, "most of the properties were targess for the incendiaries in the 1949 race ot
and had been rebuilr -

However despite the increasing tension and violence of late 1953, Indian property-owncrs began to
resume rent-collecting in the shantytowns. Charles Khumalo recalls that “in the beginning they came around ia
the middle of the day when everything was quiet. Just very quictly, with a long coat and hat and a little face with
a2 big smile .. they would just say to your wife, ‘I have come for my rent, never mind about the other rent [back
rent]. Just pay from the beginning of the month>’ Soon however residents would see Indian landlords in

0. Ilanga lasz MNatal, 6 August 1949,

51, [nterview with Mr 5 Selby, 19 August 1580,
[nterview with Mr C Khumalo, 3 June 1987,
Nanga lase Nagal, 17 November 1951,

MMNAD; CM/Trading, vol 1; passim,
Nanga lase MNagal, 4 June 1949,

Draily News, 21 September 1953,
Interview with Mr C Khumalo, 3 June 1987,
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“mectings” with African shacklords and “we were made to wnderstand that they were all back together aﬁain."ﬂ'
Racial barriers to class unity made for complex but not irresolvable conflict.

[n the same way as African rackrenters were obliged to co-operate with Indian landowners, so, during
the period immediately after the Riots, Alrican entreprepeurs were pever to be completely successiul in
controlling the growth of new shops, shebeens and sdbher similar ventures, Albert Vilakan, who lived in the
Cabazini area offers his recollection:

My wife was brewing at the home and selling. Not a shebeen. So our man [shacklord]
comes around and savs ‘NMo! No! You cannot [=t your wife do this. What about the police.
Too much trouble’ This was an cxcuse, We all knew his wife was having a shebeen, 5o we
say ‘Mo, vou cannot do this, otherwise we cannot afford to stay here and we are good people.’
'‘OK, this can stay ‘Lgainliug at the shimevane] but [ do oot want to se2 you drving a car, |
have pot got a car.”

Whilst attemupting to gain were power, shacklords and other entreprenewrs were also conscious of the need 1o
maintain a certain equilibrivm snd stability in shanrytown society,

There was however no equilibrium in shack socety. With the growing power of an entreprencur
class, the basis of shack life was changing. However, these entreprencurs, known by residents as "our fiest
leaders®, had not acquired full control over the area.® Mkhumbane was esseatially a colleetion of smaller
shack sprawls where power and authority was never fully established by snyone. There were few really effective
structurss in shack society that could reducs conflict in the shantytown area.

The only constraint against the increasing wealth of the entreprencurs was through the proletariat
living in the area evoking the moral benefits of the proletarian populism which had been widcly accepted i the
area during the later 1940s, The persuasivencss of this ideology became less and less powerful with the
increasing class distinctions which were developing within the population,

During the early 1950s, the entrepreneurial class did not manage 1o gain complete control of the
shack area nor quell the conflict between different leaders and traders. Immediately afier the Riots of January
1949 leading residents of Mkhumbane were instrumental in establishing a civilian guard in Mkhumbane %!
Many residents welcomed the formation of this vigilante foree, which became known as “our own Cato Manor
SAP", as there were rumours that “the Indian army [was] forming to exact revenge” 7% However, the purpose of
this vigilante force was not merely 10 secure the shanrytowns against outside agressors. The vigilante force was
a ragged collection of the various “impis® which already existed in the shantytowns. These forces were

58 [nterview with Mr M O D Kunene, 12 May 1986,

3. Interview with Mr A Vilakad, 19 August 1983,

60, Interview with Mrs D Nyembe, 8 July 1985,

il KCAV; interview with Mrs E Africa, 23 Seplember 1580,

a2 KCAV: interview with Mrs A Moguni, 25 September 1980, Very similar events bad occurred in the

Clermont freehold township during the later 19405, See Edwards Sibisi, passim.



occasionally assembled by various leading entrepreneurs to protect their power and wealth. The avilian guard
was a means whereby established entreprensurs ia the shanrytowns sought both to protect their own mewly
acquired and existing commercial ventures and establish their power over shack residents. The civilian guard
was never properly established and was not to last for very lnng.ﬁj'

Lacking any really established and secure leadership element, shack residents wese unable to either
unite or successfully develop those strategies essential to protect their shack area from external power. Beyond
an expressed desire to remain [ving in the Mkhumbans area, the residents of Mkhumbane were unable to resist
attempts by the municpality, the government and major local employers to transform Alrcan bowsing in the

ciry. 4

The Struggle for Mkhumbane

The struggle over the future of Mkhambane shacklands was waged in the vesy early 19505 and not, as many
assert, in the later years of the dtﬂdﬂ.ﬁj Dwring the early 19305, the monicipality was largely able to asserl
control over the shacklands, denyving Africans permanent frechold residence and acquiring ownership of the
Mkhumbane arca for the development of temporary African housing. When the large-scale African protests
over the destruction of Mkhumbane developed amidst the heightensd African palitical militancy of the late
19503, the battle was to all intents and purposes over. By that stags the municipaliry was already developing and
administering the temporary African housing scheme in the Cato Manor Emergency Camp, had available an
ever-increasing number of permanent houses in Kwa Mashu, and was involved in nzgotistions with government
for the development of further permanent houses in Umlan.

Although the municipality was 1o have difficulty in applying munscipal policy in the shantytowns, the
struggle over the ultimate future of the shacklands was decided with an almost complete lack of organized
African resistance. Despite shack residents asserting their desire to remain in their eonquered space, there was
no clear political strategy asd a lack of any clear leadership,  Furthermore, existing African  political
organizations, particularly the African National Congress, did not have the political will to struggle for the
hMkhumbane shantytowns.

Diuring the early 1950s, Mkhumbane residents responded to the altering circumstances of shack Life
by cxpressing the desire that the situation in the shacklands be rapidly restored to “sormal."® The primary goal
was to secure the future existence of African residence in the Mkbumbane area. [t i significant that in spite of

Interview with Mr T Phewa, 23 June 1985,

Shack dwellers' weaknesses are clearly revealed in MNAD; HI1B/CM; sworn affidavit of Esau
Makathini (Le Fleur), 15 March 1949, For geaeral analysis see Lloyd, Slums, Chaptes X

See, for cxample, Ladlau, “Cato Manor Ricts”, and K Luckbardt and B Wall, Organize . or Starve
(London, 1980).

Interviews with Mr € D § Mbutho, 19 April 1985 and Mrs T Phewa, 23 June 1985,
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the threat which the growing wealth and power of cstablished shacklords and traders posed to the internal
economy of the shantyiowns, such a crucial issue was sidelined. Instead, the residents became united in
believing that the social structure of shack life could be stabilized through either defending the area against
external power of through controlling the nature of external infervention in the shantytowns.

There were, however, various ways of understanding how the security of African hife in the
Mikhumbane area could be achieved, Discussion within shack society encompassed four issues: firstly, a
concern over municipal power within the city and, in particular, municipal control ever the shantyiowns.
Secondly, the question of improved residential {acilities in the Mkhumbane area, Thirdly, the insistence that
Africans had gained the right to remain permacently in Mkhumbane. Finally debate over the question of
political goals and the means whereby such aims could be achieved. Such ideas would be ceatral to the political
conscionsness of Mkhumbane residesits during the eourse of the 1959 Beerhall Riots and the strikes, boycotts
and stay-away campaigns which formed part of a broader African political militancy during the erises of the late
19505 and early 19605,

Most people accepted the efficacy of the Alfrican populist militancy of the later 15:41s and the gains
made by Mkhumbane residents during the January 1949 Riots. However, many believed that through the very
public profile which Mkbumbane had received, it was necessary (o accepl the limited goals achieved during the
Riots as the limits of then possible achievable goals. Alrican shack dwellers should however he allowed to live
in the area without any external interference.

During the later 19405, taking advantage of the municipality's inabiliry to control the city's African
proletariat, Africans had established a populous and tightly kait shantytoun settlement in Mikhumbane. These
shack residents preferred to concentrate upen the task of defending contested space owned by Indians.
However during the course of the growth of the Mkhumbane shacklands, the area rapidly became the hub of an
alternative African proletarian city culture, with shantytown residents playing a leading roe in the increasingly
militant African populist politics of the bt 1940s. This rising political activity was aimed ar both transforming
and thereby improving the nature of African life in the city and in overturning the structures of civil power in
the city.

With the eviction of Indian residents many proclaimed Mkhumbase to be “liberated”. However,
residents believed that the future sccurity of the shantytowns depended upon people not “showing our heads”
and thus inviting municipal intervention. After the Riots, the aty was clearly full of people wishing to “put us in
our place again,” Charles Khumalo continues:

We were all happy with the Riots. All the Indians had gone, bul we were scared. You see
we had been living there quietly and now all of a sudden there is the navy, the police and the
newspapers are ail talking about us. You could go into work and the boss would say ‘Ta, now
we all know about you, you fucking rubbish. You think you are clever?®

67. Tnterview with Mr C Khumalo, 7 July 1985.



Tembinkosi Phewa, who by his own admission and those of his fricads, was part of the meb which burnt and
loated in Mkhumbane during the Riots, recalls that: *Everyone was talking about it and telling people that was
bad. Bul everyone did those things. Everyone! But now you cannot talk about it o8

The newly found moderation of the militant Mkbumbane ressdents of the late 1940s was enhanced by
other developments, Resideots became frightened by the scale of viclence which bad occurred during the
Riots.? Others were stung by the manner in which African leaders, such as Moses Kotane, castigated the city's
African population for exhibiting such undisciplined, racist and violent tendencies.™

Asa result of a commonly felt desire 1o de-escalate the issue and avoid continual public serutiny, the
attempts by a small groups of Africans to “carry on with the battle” were 1o fail, 71 During the peried
immediately before the outbreak of the riots many Alricans had been discussing the need for Africans o take to
arms, go “wnderground” and revolt. 'S After the Riots, wing Mkhumbane as their stronghold, this small group
af people, some of whom were residents of Mkhumbane, and others who had retreated into “hiding” from the
police and the .1r|:1.:,.-_'|'3 into Mkhumbane, believed that it was necessary for the shantytown dwellers to coatinue

the offensive. Ashmon Mene, a leading resident of Mkhumbane recalls the events:

When the police and the army came down onto Cato Manor during the Riots there were lots
of people running into Mkhumbane. Lots, from the [ndians, from the police and everyone.

MNow these people, this group, came into the shacks and told people to carry on.... these
people were the same ones_who wanted guns. The same as before the Riots. The same

people. But it did not work.™

Whilst cautioning that the time was not yet propitious for a further escalation in conflict, persons holding this
view belizved that through their victory in the January 1949 Riots, Africans had acquired permanent control of
the Mkhumbane area by "right of mnqml'.Tj Both the municipality and the Indian landowners should accept
this. Many residents were thus opposed 10 any attempts by either the municipality or the Indian landowners to
‘take our land away”. JJ Shabalala recalls what appears to have been a popular belief: "once Kwa Muhle comes

8, Interview with Mr T Phewa, 7 July 1985,
fi, [nterview with Mr B Mthethwe, 14 January 1986,
0, Kotane had ia fact journcyed to Durban and stated that the Riots cleacly indicated the lack of

elfective African political leadership in Natal. Intervdew with MrsJ Arenstein, 18 July 1985. See
also CKM; roll 3A; 2: CC 1: 84/10; Communist Party of South Africa “The Durban Riots-A Warning
1o South Alrica’, where Kotane lays a wider blame on apartheid legislation, A W G Champion was
also to appeal for moederation in a statement which was probably the only mstance where he co-
operated with the Natal Indian Congress. Sce CEM; roll 30; 2:DA 19/2:39, A W G Champion and
G M Naidoo, 14 January 1949,

TL Interview with Mr A Neoe, 26 January 1984,
T, [hid.

73 langa lase Naal, 22 January 1949,

T4, Interview with Mr A Nene, 26 Jaouary 1784,

T5. Interview with Mr C N Shum, 22 June 1935,
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it comes and that land is nolonger yours™"® If shack residents lived quictly on land and both Iadian
landowners and the municipality “left us alone” and accepted the fact of African occupation, then “all the
troubles would be over. Then we could tell Kwa Muble to come und build us proper houses.  But it was our
land."™7

Initially, such a view gained much support from existing shacklords, other entrepreneurs and those
wanting 1o “invest” in profiteering activities as could be sustained within 2 shanmiown relatively removed from
external anthority, Many of these people had been part of the militant co-operanive movement during the late
IM0s, As Kunens recalls, using populist images, such entrepreneurs and aspirant entrepreneurs asserted that
"Africans had to show that we could get our own leaders - people of standing just ke all the other races in
Durban, they all had their wealthy people. We were 2 normal race just like the others.” In order 10 achievs this
*we had to prove that we could do things by ourselves. Us the people of Mkhumbane.” >

According to a sccond viewpeinl, however, as a result of the 1949 Riols the cxistence of the
Mkhumbane shacklands should be recognized by the municipality. Whilst stressing the power of the shack
residents, this view accepied that the Mkhumbane arca had not been “liberated” and believed thar it was possible
to negotiate with the municipality over the provision of essential services and the development of a frechold
African urban suburb in Mikhumbane. ™

Support for this view was almost certainly enhanced by Havemann's statements in the carly 1950s,
Havemann maintained that be desired a “stable” African city population; that pass laws and pass raids could be
abolished; that the dirty beerkalls could be replaced by “bars™; that shops would be provided in African subushs
and that hostels could be replaced by “boarding houses” and “small lodging” premises.™ Te Mikhumbane
residents, Havemann scemed to be saying that the municipality was ready to accede to many of the demands
made by Africans during the later 1940s. Indeed, during the course of 1950 various reports indicated that
Mkhumbane would be 32t aside for permanent African sccommodation 31

With regard to the possibility of negotiating with the municipality over permanent African residence
in Mkhumbane, Charles Mbutho expresses what was clearly a popular view : whilst accepting that you bad to be
“very careful® about negotiating with the municipality, "we were all proud people who waated to develop and be
decent people. We should notbe treated like rats who have to scurryinto a hole when the White man

comes. % Jason Shange, a resident of Mkhumbane from the early 19404 comments:

Th. Interview with Mr ] ] Shabalala, 13 Movember 1986,

T Intervicw with Mr A Nene, 26 January 1984,

8. Interview with Mr M O D Kunens, 12 May 1985, For the similar ways in which African traders
legitimized their entreprencurial ventures in Clermont see Edwards, Sibisi, p 15.

T, Interview with Me S § L Mtolo, 10 June 1983,

80, llapga lase MNaral, 10 June 1950 and 27 January 1951

8L [hid, 3 June 1950,

a2 Interview with Mr C D S Mbutho, 19 April 1983,



We wanted o stay i MEhumbane, It was oot a mice place but it was ours, This we wanted
to kesp. Why not pur all the things we have bere in Kwa Mashu in Mkhumbane, Thar s
what we wanted. This we told the Ciry Council, They knew what we wanied.

Others rescnted the nature of life in the shantytowns and revealed a growing sense of working class
consciousness, Albert Vilakazi believes that *T did not want to live next to a tsotsi and shebeens, That was not
what I wanted. All those people the municipality must send away and give us good houses. &4

This was a view which found favour amongst many of those previously militant shackshop keepers
who now desired to gain licenses to operate shops in Mkhumbane, The lawyer represcating the Zondizitha

Buving Club spoke of these peoples” newly found "abject Im.rmlmf‘aj

Lzt us say when you have a cow wishing to milk it and it runs away but ot that time it changes
its mind and comes to vou. [ believe thar you shall never neglect it, because no matter where
the beast may go, it remains and vest[s] in vour powers; this [is] what applies to these MNative
Traders for they are yours and they shall always remain under you.

Similarly in an endeavour to halt the January 1949 Riots, certain unnamed, Afrcan “leaders” met “secratly” wath
the Chief Mative Commissioner for Matal and offered to balt the killing and looting if Africans' *grievances’
could also be discussed 37 While therzis no record of how such discussions progressed, they were almost
eertainly part of those attempts by some Mkhumbane residents to gain a secure residential area in Mkhumbane.

Meither of these views acquired any coherence in the shanrytowns during the eritical period of the
early 19305, There were no internal social structures capable of reducing conllict within shack sociery; aor was
there any real means of formulating a single policy. Although all residents wanted (o be allowed to both awn
land houses in Mkhumbane, there was considerable disagreement over how this could be achieved. Some
believed that the municipality should provide formal housing which would be sold to residents. Others wanred a
eontinuation of shack-type dwellings, with only the provision of improved basic facilities. Others saw no need to
alter the existing conditions in Mkhumbane: no good could come from any external intervention in the lives of
the shack dwellers, In many wavs these discussions reflected the nature of class distnctions within the
population. Some could afford to purchase land and housing, others could not.  For the underclasses of
Mkhumbane, Mkhumbane was a secure area of residence precisely because it did not conform (0 the
aspirations of many other shack residents, Furthermore, the often increasingly wealthy shack leaders lacked
any clear notion of the future of Mkhumbane, Some saw a foture in a township, while others accurately

perceived that with the development of such a township, the very material bases of their existing power would

Interview with Mr J Shange, 21 July 1985,
Interview with Mr A Vilakazi, 19 Augest 1985 .
Kuper, African Bourgeoisic, p 304.

Quoted in [hid, p 305.
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be very threatened. Mkhumbane society was rent with disagreement and confusion over the very msue which
wis both so central to their lives and a key foundation in their aotions of community unity.

Wwith the ‘liberation’ of Mkhumbane during the January 1949 Riots, many of the estabiished leaders
had simply sidelined their carlier interest in polities and concentrated on advancing the aspirations of the
African trading class. Among them were to be found the only coberent group of Mkhumbang resudents, wha,
during the early 1950s, would continue to advocate the use of violence to attain their abjectives: oot the gaining
of permancnt residential rights in Mkhumbane, but the eatrenching of African traders” rights. In a letrer 10 the

municipality, the Zulu Hlanganani maintained that

Trading rights are still in the hands of the Indians, We therefore preseat these grievances 1o
you, Sir, so that they can be immediately rectified. It is not our wish to see another bloody
war in this said Area, but unless things can come our way within the short space of ime it is
passible that our respect and endurance shall ao more prevail,

These demands were essentially those of an organized trading class desiring to gain conteol of all trading
ventures in the area.

Such entrepreneurs, responding to the growing criticism of their leadership by residents, endeavoured
to sustain, through celebeations such s the Mkhumbane Xmas Tree days. a radical populism within the area.
However these and such like eclebrations embraced few concrete strategies aimed at maintaining the future of
African residence in the area. Furthcrmore, some of the entrepenuerial leadership in Mkhumbane saw such
ceremonics as the limits of their “involvement in politics - [ was a businessman and | have to look after my
5hup.*5'g Others however, used their increasing starus in Mkhumbane to gain power within local political
erganizations.

Along with some local Congress Youth League leaders, many Mkhumbane leaders became interested
in the Moral Re-Armament movement. This movement, which established a local presence in Durban during
the early 1950s, was an international semi-religious organization which believed in the benefits of promoting
ceconciliation between various opposing political organizations. Profoundly conservative and offering material
advantages to local leaders, some Affrican leaders viewed the movement as the means to reduce class conflict,
gain further individual status and wealth and sequire the trappings of ‘normal’ life. This is clearly evident in the
way in which one of the African Jeaders of the movement in the Johannesburg area gained financial assistance

from the movement to erect his own house, which be then called "This Is | '.'m

LR Kuper, African Bourgeoisie, p 305. It is entirely possible that this letter and the general strategy of
the Zulu Hlanganani was worked out in conjunction with Rowley Arenstein whi was then one of

the key lawvers assisting the Zulu Hlanganani.

&9, Informant o remain anceymous. Whilst information supplied by this informant has been quoted
and fully acknowledged elsewhere in this work, this somewhat self eritical reflection was provided
on condition of anonymity.

. llanga lase Natal, 8 February 1952 and University of York: interiew with Mr M B Yengwa, 23
Movember 1976,
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Most of the Zulu Hlanganani leaders became intorested in pursuing political careers outside
Mkhumbane, For a while during the carly 19305 the Zulu Hlanganani was formally allicd to the Bantu National
Congress which cstablished a significant presence inthe city, albeit for only a bricf period, during the carly
1950s. This organization was heavily funded and possibly initiated by a MNatal Nationalist Party member of
Parliamcnt and led by a grouping of local African herbalists, those involved in various lomerics and scams, and
independent African traders. The movement was lcad by 55 Bhengu, a local herbalist and president of the
powerful Natal Bantu Medical Association.”! The Bantu Mational Congress was formed 1o combat the growh
of African political organizations opposing government policy, to allow for the growth of an Adrican political
alliance between conscrvative chiefs and urban Africans, 1o support the election of National Party members as
Alrican representatives in the Senate, to and provide international legitimation for government apartheid
policy 2

The Bantu National Congress was rabidly anti-Indian, supporting the repatriation of all Indsans, and
stressed the need for an exclusive African racial identity,.  Emplosing those sexual images so integral 1o such
politics, the leader of the Bantu National Congress endeavoured to create a‘rape scare’ Julminating against
sexual relations between Indians and Adricans and mantaining that through such contact, Indians were
attempting to reduce the power of the African ‘nation’. " The Bantu National Congress also supported
apartheid policy and maintained that only Africans should be allowed to trade in African arcas. ™ By the mid-
1950 the organization had disappeared through public ridicule and lack of support; and the goverament had
becoming increasingly embarrassed by the crassness of the organization’s public statements.” For a while at
least, however, the organization did represent the political ideas of a significant number of the entreprencurs of
Mkhumbane,

91, ltanga lage Natal, and Kuper African Bourgeoisie. p 305.
o2 This was an issu@ which had begun inthe late 19405 when se tha Nationalist Party attempted 10

oppose Senator E Brookes re- election to the Senate. Initially the Nationalists had tried 1o cbtain
the support of Champion who equivocated. The Nationalists finally gained support fromH P
Mgwenya. a highly middle class person who was 8 membser of the executive of the A N C in Natal
Although faling to win the seat, the Nationalists used both Mgwenyaand 55 Bhanguto stan
rival groups” such as the Baniu National Congress. This was an issue which wornied both
Champion and the post-Luthuli AN C. See CKM:roll 3B; 2:XC9: 30/84: AW G Champion-H 5
Msimang, 5Aprl 1948; roll 15A; 2: XC09:30,/84; A W G Champion-H 5 Msimang, 5 November
1948; roll 38;2:DA 19:30/13; A N C (Matal) Executive Committee. 20 December 1952 and §
Deanna (ed) Black South Africans (Cape Town, 1978, p 151.

See for example The Guardian, 22 November 1951 and 18 Septembar 1952, llanga lase Matal, &
Cctober 1552 and Advance, 25 Decembaer 1952,
Interview with Mr § § L Mtodo, 10 June 1883 and Kuper, African Bourgecisie, p 305.
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The Union Government was to withdraw their invitation of Bhengu 10 address the United MNations
on aspects of apartheld policy and Indian African refations. See imerviews with Messrs B Nair, 27
June 1285 and H J Bhangu, 21 November 1986. Mr S S L Bhengu was later convicled of fraud

and fargery and sentenced lo three years imprisonment. Soe [langa lase Natal, 24 Aprl 1854,
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Prior to the dissolution of the Bantu National Congress however, a split developed within the ranks of
those Mkhumbene traders who belonged 1o the Zulu Hlanganani™ This conflict was partly rooted in
competition over markets, and in the political alliance between the Zulu Hlanganani and the Bantu National
Congress. As a result of this split some members of the Zulu Hlanganani, many of whom had abways opposed
the political and economic ambitions of A W G Champion, moved towards the reviving African Manional
Congress in Durban, whilst others "staved to run our businesses.” L

In the same way as the lcadership in Mkhumbane failed 1o perceive correctly the nature of municipal
policy, or to organize any cifective opposition, so the African Mational Congress in Durban failed to organize
any struggle to ensure that Alricans would be allowed permanent residence. While AWG Champion expressed
private and publie jov with the outbreak of the riots of January 1949, he was generally contemptuous of the
Mkhumbane shack dwellers, ™ Champion saw in the riots and the eviction of Indians the chanee to boost his
Nagging political fortunes both nationally and locally and further his own trading and investing ventures.

In gpite of being chairman of the local Joint Locations Advisory Board, Champion often ignored or
misunderstood City Council poliey towards the area.  After councillors Nicholson and Spanier Marson sct out
the idea of temporary African housing in Mkhumbane, Champion praised the two councillors for their desire 1o
establish permanent African seitlement in the area. Later, realizing his mistake, Champion retracied his
siatement; bul we wenl on again incorrectly, to praise the City Couneil for wanting permanent African housing
in Cato Manor Farm, 100

Champion’s main activitics during this period concerned his conflict with the Congress Youth Leaguc
attcmpts (o undermine his leadership of the African National Congress in Natal, his attempts 1o gain the
support of chiclly authority in Natal and his desire 10 expand his material interests in Mikhumbane. '1 While

failing in the first two activitics, his catrepeeneurial ventures in Mkhumbanc did expand. Already o “acklord in

a5, Interviews with Messrs C Khumalo, 23 June 1985 and Mr J Hiope, 29 July 1986
a7, Interview with MrJ J Shabalala, 28 Movember 1986 and interview with Mr M B Yengwa by Ms P
Makico, n.d.

ag. CKM: roll 158; Mative Locations [Combined) Advisory Boards meeting, 13 August 1947, AW G
Champion-President General & N C, 31 August 1948; Resolutions passed at a public maating
held by the A NC (Natal) and the Native Locations (Combined) Advisery Beoards, Durban, 12
February 1940; N S Msimang-A W G Champion, 25 January 1949 and 14 November 1949 and
interview with Mr M B Yengwa by Mz P Maidoo, nd.

ga. Throughout his political eareer during the tater 19408 and early 19508 Campion was continually
directing most of his energies lowards gaining support from the Alrican urban alte and chigfs
and was often heard 10 be comtemplucus of those whom he referred o as pan of the “cultural
amalgam’” the proletariat. Sea interviews with Mr J Hiope, 29 July 1985 and Mr 5 Bourquin, T July

15988,
100. MMAD; H 2/ CM, vol 1; AW G Champion-Town Clerk. 1 December 1849,
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Vigws of Mahlati, (Pietermaritzburg. 1981) pp 8491



Mihumbane, Champion met frequently with and invested in the Zulu Hlanganani. Champion was also active
*hehind our backs”, mecting with varfous evicied Indian traders and, in paripership with them, began to
ectablish at least one wholesale “agency” in the shantytown. 112

The main focus of the Congress Youth League in Durban was to casure Champioa's political demise.
This virtually all-consuming political battle was fought not just at the level of attracting popular support for the
Youth League, but over control of advisory boards and the local organizational structures of the African
Matsonal 'I:uug,r::ﬁ..“ﬂ In fact, during the later 1940s, many Youth Leaguers bad accepted that with the growing
apposition of Durban's African proletariat to any participation in the Advisory Board system and their lack of
enthusiasm for the African MNational Congress, it was likely that the Youth League would “have to fight
alone, 104

Throughout the carly 1950s, this bautle continued with the Youth League fnally de-throning
Champion and installing A T Luthuli as Natal President of the African Mational Congress. From then onwards
all the energies of the Youth Leaguers became focussed on improving the organizational structures of the ANC,
conducting the Defiance Campaign, popularizing the newly elected leadership of the organization, and wath
establishing closer links with the national leadership of the Defiance Campaign and the ANC.103 For instance,
local Congress leaders endeavoured to gain support for the campaign against the government's proposed
removals {rom Sﬂphﬂlm&n-mﬁ

Druring the period when the municipality, employers and the government were discussing the furure
of Mkhumbane, the ncwly elected members of the African National Congress in Durban made no attempt [0
conduct a similar campaign. The issue of permanent African residence in Cato Manor Farm had becn
discussed during Deliance Campaign but had been summarily drnpp:d,lm Mevertheless many Congress Youth
League leaders, including M B Yengwa, did use the "vacuum” created by the expulsion of Indians from the area
to develop their own entreprencurial ventures in Mkbumbane, 103
The question of permanent African residence in Cato Manor Farm was difficult. to resalve. In spire

of Mkbumbane residents’ claims, the land remained Indian-owned and, in accordance with the municipal Group

102 Interview with Mr J Hiope, 29 July 1985,

103, CKM: Jordan Ngubane "1 Shall Not Be Silenced”, unpublished manuscript, See also University of
York: interview with Mr M B Yengwa by Dr T Lodge, 23 November 1976, interview with Mr M B
Yengwa by Ms P Naidoo, a.d. and interview wath Mr § 5 L Mriolo, 10 June 1983,

104, Ikid.
105. Ibid.

106. CEM:roll 3B: = DA 19:30/16; AN C (Natal) executive commiltes meeting, 6 June 1954, When
diseussing municipal attempts to relocate African residential areas in the city, the A N C
studiously avoided the issue of Africans in Mkhumbane and focussed on the future of the African
freehold areas of Good Hope and Chateau Estate which adjoined Mkbumbane., See CEM; recl
IB: 2DA 19:30/15: AN C (Naal), report of the secretariat for the year ending 30 September
1955,

107, Interview with Mr 5 5 L dMuola, 10 June 1983,
108. Interview with Mr M B Yengwa by Ms P Naidoo, n.d..
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Arcas plans, formed part of those Indian-owned lands which the City Council wanted te demarcate for White
resideitial -|i|'."|.1'.‘|-:'!|FII'I:IL‘I!1I.1m For Congress members 1o argue for permancnt African occupation of ihe
Mkhumbane arca meant taking land away from Indians. This policy was opposed 1o both the wishes of the NIC
and the joint stand taken by both the NIC and the ANC with regard to the Group Areas Bills then tabled before
parliament. Both congresses were commitied to resist any evictions or change inthe existing basis of land-
holding in the city, and they sought the abolition of all racial barriers against land holding. 110 Whilst accepting
this policy there was ncvertheless considerable sympathy among the ANC leadership in Durban for the
Mkhumbane shackdwellers, M.B. Yengwa was particularly vehement in insisting that the Mkhumbane arca be
allocated for Alrican frechold ownership. Throughoul the campaigns against the Group Areas legislation, the
Matal Indian Congress was 1o receive muted support from the ANC in Durban, 11!

I effect, the joint stand on land allocation was both inanc and simply aimed al presenving the existing
pattern of land ownership in the city. Whilst the majority of Durban's population was Alrican, the enly frechold
arcas available to Africans were the small areas of Chateas and Good Hope Estates adjoining Mkhumbane.
Nevertheless aware of the problem, but insistent that the rights of Indian landowners should be protecied
against intended municipal “plundering”, the NIC anempted 10 make what was clearly a secret deal with the Ciy
Council, 112

In the early 19505, the NIC suggested that the municipality should merely develop csscatial
infrastructural services in the Cato Manor Farm area. With these improved (acilities, Indian landowners should
then be permitted 1o ercet officially approved accommaodation for renting oul Lo a “better class of Alnican.”
Indian shacklords would thus be able 1o resume operations halted by the 1949 Riots, albeit aficr having
provided bester residential facilitics on their pqn;rpmy." 13 This amempted deal was an attempt by the NIC 1o
entrench the Indian rentier class through assisting African to live in the arca but without any claim 1o land
rights. This strategy was apparenily undernaken without the knowledgs of the ANCM The City Council

turned the proposal ﬂnwn.”‘j

109, City Council Group Areas map no 314/53. See also Durban Housing Survey, pp 408-407.
110 Intarviaw with Mr R Arenstain, 1 August 1985 and Advance, 5 March 1953,

111 See for example CKM:real 38, 2:D419/1:30/9; ANG (Natal), executive commiftes meeting, 21-22
January 1956 and Advance, 3 May 1961,

1z For detadis on Indian opposition to the Group Areas legislation see 5 Bhana and B Pachal (eds) A
Documentary History of Indian_South Africans. (Cape Town, 1984), p 313-220 and Interview with
Mr B Mair, 27 Juna 1985

113, MMAD; H2/CM, vol 2: Native Administration Commillee Agenda tabling the protests af the Cato
Manor Residents Association, 21 Decembser 1949,

114, Mone of those ANC lsaders whose interview transcripts | have consulted have ever made
mention of this issue. Those ANC members whom | have questioned onthe matter could not
racall the issue at all. Thera is no mention of tha proposed deal in any of the local newspapers.

115, City Councll minutas, 12 December 1049,
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The probable reasons for the failure of the ANC to organize around the issue of permanent African
residence in Mkhumbane are complex It is clear that the local Congress leaders were attempling to sustam
notions of non-racial unity so tarnished by the 1943 Riots.!'1® Furthermors, it is lkely that when the issue was
discussed by the ANC and the NIC, the NIC pointed out that their once powerful local branches in the Cato
Manor Farm area were ropidly being taken over by the more comservative, ‘racist” Natal Iedian
Organization. 117 This was true, but also rather a disingenuous ploy.

Throughout the late 19405 and particularly the early 1930, NIC branches in Cato Manor Farm
comprised traders, other cntreprencurs, members of the Indian working dlass and residents in the Indian sub-
cconomic housing scheme in the arca. The land was owned by both entreprencurs and workers and many of
these local NIC branches were continually calling for the eviction of Alricans from the area,'® The NIC's own
constiteents were opposed (o African land-ownership in the area.

The main reason for the ANC willingly dropping the issue of permanent African resideatial mghts in
Mkhumbane was almost certainly due to the way in which the newly elected ANC leadership was both eager to
carry cut the policies of the Johannesburg based National Executive and relied oo and deferred to the more
established leadership of the more wealthy Natal Indian Congress. Perceiving such an unequal relationship
between the two organizations, many Africans in Mkhumbane and elsewhere in the city faded to support the
Defiance Empu'gu.nq

As a result, support for permanent African residence in Mkhumbane was almost completely lacking
from those political organizations which claimed authority from and influence amongst the urban African
population. With shanrytown society never developing an alternative leadership or gaining any realistic view of
ratcgy, shack residents were in many ways left to their own devices. Their attempts to avoid further militant
action, 1o assert their desire to live permanenily in the area, and stabilize shack society were 1o Fal,

Recognizing that their security of tenere in Mkbhumbane was directly threatened by municipal plans,
wme residents left the area whilst many more iried to sell their shacks, 120 With many residents having
invested much money in shacks inan area whose future they belizved was relatively more secure than those

116. See for example discussion concerning the economic boyeott and racism in CKM; rec] 3B; 2:DA
1% 3013, A NC (Matal), excoutive committee mesting, & Junc 1954, See alsn CEM; reel 3B;
DA 19/1:30/8: ANC (Matal) executive committes, 26-27 November 1955, The Guardian, 13
Movember 1952, Advance, 6 November 1952 and L Kuper, Passive Resistance in_South Alrica
{London, 1936).

117. MNAD; H2/CM, vol 1; Cato Manor Indian Economic Housing Scheme Ratepayers Association-
Town Clerk, 13 September 1949 and 13 November 194%; vol 2; Secretary, Natal Housing Board-
Town Clerk, 17 February 1951 and interview with Mr B Nair, 27 June 1985,

115. See for example MNAD; H2/CM, vol 1; Natal Indian Congress- Town Clerk, 14 September 19455
val 2; Cato Manor Ratepayers Association-Town Clerk, 21 December 1949 and Inkundla Yabaniu,

24 September 1949,
119. University of York; interview with Mr M B Yengwa, 29 November 1976,

L), MNAD, H/ Shacks, vol 2; Mr V Khumalo-Manager, MNAD, 22 July 1952 and interview wilh Mr M
Kunene, 21 Apnl 1985,
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other shack setilements in the city, there was thus a flurry to dispose of often newly acquired property. Other
tesidents, desiring stay in the ares, became panic-stricken; “when we heard that Kwa Muhle was coming to us,
loes of us got very frightened because we knew that we were finished. This was when we were in Thekwini~121

The idea thar Mkhumbane was oaly within the city with the development of the Emergency Camp in
1953 is, in rerms of spatial and administrative boundaries, quite absurd. Yet, such feclings do reveal the way in
which shack society had developed as an alternate society, within the city but cutside effective municipal control
Whilst being in conflict with civic and state authoriry, the legal rights of the existing land-owners, and the power
of industrial and commercial emplovers, the Mkhumbane shantytowns were still very much part of the city in
which their power to determine their furure was limited.

Conclusion

During the later 1940s, the Alrican proletariat living in Mkhumbane had become conscious of their own
political power and the ofien undisguised weakness of municipal power. With the evietion of Indian residents,
raders and land-owners from much of Cato Mapor Farm during the January 1949 Riots, shack residents
believed that they had ‘liberated’ Mkhumbane, At the very least the victors in the ‘bartle af Cato Manar’ had
shown both Indian properiy-owners and the municipality that they desired 1o live permanently in Mkhumbane,

Yet through the very riots residents became very more aware of how the municipality was determined
1o alter the conditions of shack settlbement in Cato Manor Farm, To residents, the need to defend what people
believed was their land was of the utmost importance.  The problem could be sobved through residents of the
shacklands controlling the manner in which external powers could intervene in the shacklands.

However the very changes which had occurred within shack society in the period subsequent to the
January 1949 Riots made the possibility of any form of commuaity consensus around the central question of the
future character of the shacklands and the role of the mumicipality highly unlikely, Within a period of
heightened class conflict within the shacklands, residents bad very different notions of how their own material
and social needs could be furthered through changes in the residential structure of Mkhumbane.

To such problems was added the fact that the shackland residents had no really effective forms of
internal organization or a leadership element of any truly representative kind.  The exsting shack leaders
pursucd their own material interests within the shacklands and somewhat indecisively sought 1o acquire a wider
political influesce. Their quest for a broader political keadership was based on their existing power within the
shacklands. However, their very calls for populist uaity within the shacklands and an acceptance of their
leadership was conteadicted by the very changes within the shacklands through which entreprencurs had
increased their own material wealth in Mkhumbane,

These weaknesses within Mkhumbane society were simply compounded by the failure of Alfrican
political organizations to develop any clear leadership or political strategy to cnsure permancnt Alrican

121, Interview with Mrs T Phewa, 23 June 1985



occcupation of Mkhumbane. Neither the ANC of Champion nor that of the Cangress Youth Leagues ever really
confronted the problem during the very years when the Bsue was so crucial o the future of Mkhumbane. The
purpase of those failed organizations and movements which attracted the interest of the Mkhumbane
entreprencurs had very little to do with Mihumbane. What the shantytown residents bad struggled for for so
long would be lost in a relatively short period of time.



